


Annual Report 2007

Contents

1

Pages

Corporate Information 2

Chairman’s Statement 3

Management Discussion and Analysis 7

Corporate Governance Practices 9

Report of the Directors 13

Independent Auditors’ Report 21

Consolidated:

Income Statement 23

Balance Sheet 24

Statement of Changes in Equity 26

Cash Flow Statement 28

Company:

Balance Sheet 30

Notes to Financial Statements 31

Particulars of Investment Properties 108

Five Year Financial Summary 110



Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Co. Ltd.

Corporate Information

2

Executive Directors
Luk King Tin

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Cheng Cheung

Luk Yan

Luk Fung

Fan Chiu Tat, Martin

Independent Non-Executive

Directors
Liu Li Yuan

Liang Fang

Tam Kan Wing

Company Secretary
Fan Chiu Tat, Martin, B.Soc.Sc., FCCA, HKICPA

Principal Bankers
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation

Limited

ICBC (Asia) Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Auditors
Ernst & Young

Principal Share Registrar
The Bank of Bermuda Limited

6 Front Street

Hamilton HM11

Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share

Registrar
Tricor Tengis Limited

26th Floor

Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Registered Office
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

Principal Place of Business
5th Floor, Cheong Wah Factory Building

39-41 Sheung Heung Road

Tokwawan, Kowloon

Hong Kong



Annual Report 2007

Chairman’s Statement

3

Last year was a busy but fruitful year, evidenced by significant profits growth as well as remarkable increase

in market capitalization of the Group. Apart from increasing value to our shareholders, it also brought stable

profits and dividends to our shareholders.

The Group believes that the significant growth was mainly attributable to the realisation of the underlying

potentials of the Emerging Markets by investors. In particular, Vietnam has all those favorable factors, such

as having joined the WTO last year, possessing of rich natural resources, strong consumers’ buying power,

government’s well receiving attitude towards foreign investments, religious freedom and markets sophistication

that have made it one of the hottest spots for the investors investing in the Emerging Markets. The investment

market and investors have been actively exploring for companies that have concrete investments and good

projects in Vietnam. Since over a decade ago, the Group realized the potentials of Vietnam with the belief that

“Today’s China; Tomorrow’s Vietnam” and since then has made a number of strategic investments in Vietnam.

Today, Vietnam is in its prosperous development with lots of business opportunities and the Group begins to

reap the fruit with continuous strong cashflow and remarkable profits recorded. Moreover, the Group has also

established sound goodwill, smooth cooperation relationship with the local government as well as the

experience in start-up, processing and completing projects in Vietnam. These advantages could not be achieved

in a short period of time, but required vision and persistence.

The Company issued shares through a placement last year that has cemented the financial strength of the

Group. The Group has a strong net cash position today and the gearing ratio is merely 8%, which has ensured

the Group with financial resources in further exploring the markets in Vietnam and considering new investment

projects. The Group will be proactively study new opportunities with the bases of high return rate and within

reasonable investment amount so as to improve the Group’s portfolios and to optimize returns to our

shareholders.

Both of the Group’s principal businesses in Vietnam, namely cement production and sales and property

investment have recorded continuous significant growth during the year.

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2007 was HK$529,251,000, representing an increase

of 42% when compared to HK$373,744,000 of last year. Turnover from the cement business was

HK$401,749,000 representing a year-on-year increase of 46%, whereas turnover from the property investment

was HK$116,507,000, representing an increase of 28% as compared to last year.

The consolidated net profit attributable to shareholders was HK$302,640,000 for the year, representing an

increase of approximately 51% when compared to HK$200,343,000 of last year.
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Cement business
The Group’s sales of cement and clinker achieved 1.26 million tonnes in 2007, representing an increase of

43% as compared to last year. The profit after tax increases more than 40% as compared to last year.

The increase in production and sales of cement was mainly attributed to a new cement production line with

annual production capacity of 700,000 tonnes, which has commenced operation near the end of 2006. Another

production line with an annual production capacity of 1.3 million tonnes is targeted to commence production

in July 2008. It is estimated that the total quantity produced of the cement plant can reach 1.85 million tonnes

in 2008 and shall achieve 2.8 million tonnes in 2009.

The 5th cement production line, which is jointly cooperated with the Saigon Industrial Corporation (“CNS”),

with an annual capacity of 1.85 million tonnes, together with a limestone mine of 40 hectares have been

approved by the Vietnamese government. The Group will be responsible for the construction of this cement

production line. The clinker production plant will be built near the existing cement plant of our Group. The

cement-grinding station will be built in the suburb of Ho Chi Minh City. Production is expected to commence

at the 1st quarter of 2010 and its produce will be supplied to the southern region of Vietnam, which is currently

in severe shortage.

Over past years, the demand for cement in Vietnam has grown on an average of 15% per annum. The Ministry

of Construction of Vietnam has predicted this trend will not be changed for at least the coming 5 years. The

local supply is not able to meet the demand for many years and it is anticipated that Vietnam has to continue

to import clinker from Thailand for near future. Furthermore, the entry to WTO initiates the construction of

various major infrastructure projects such as highways, tunnels to cope with the accelerated economic growth.

The central government recently approved a decision for Hanoi, the capital, to absorb part of the neighboring

3 provinces in order to enlarge the capital for more than double. All these attributed to the increasing demand

of cement. The Group therefore is optimistic to the future development of the cement business in Vietnam.

For the existing cement business, the Group strives to control its costs and increase sales channels in order

to achieve a higher net profit margin. The contract with outside contractor for extracting limestone mine was

expired and cancelled since January 2008 and the operation has been replaced by a joint venture of which

the Group owns 51%. This could reduce the limestone extracting cost. Besides, production cost can also be

lowered when the Group starts to produce its own cement bags at the second half of this year. Although the

cost of coal has increased, the selling price of cement can be increased as well so as the cost increase can

be transferred to the customers. Moreover, as a result of the economies of scale and the implementation of

some cost-control measures, it is expected that the net profit margin shall be able to improve as a whole in

this year.

Over the years, the Group has gained valuable experience in developing cement business in emerging markets.

And thus, at the end of 2007, the Group has set up a company, namely Middle Asia Cement Company

Limited in Mongolia to study the feasibility of investing in the cement business in Mongolia. The Group holds

83% stake of the Company.
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Saigon Trade Center and Property Investment
Benefited from the entry to WTO, there is a significant increase of investment by foreign enterprises as well

as the remarkable growth of the local economy. Saigon Trade Center has recorded significant growth in its

rental income. The rental income for the year ended 31 December 2007 was US$13.2 million, representing

an increase of over 30% as compared to that of 31 December 2006. The average monthly rental rate was

around US$29 per square meter for the year 2007, representing an increase of over 20% compared to last

year.

The demand for office spaces in Ho Chi Minh City remains strong, especially for high quality offices in downtown.

Saigon Trade Center is located in the CBD of Ho Chi Minh City that is currently the tallest and biggest

commercial building as well as the landmark in the City. As the forecasted completion of a number of office

buildings for 2007 and 2008 has been delayed for at least another 1 or 2 years, momentum for rental rise is

expected to continue for at least the coming 2 years. As at 31 December 2007, the Saigon Trade Center has

almost been fully occupied. The rental rate per square meter for newly signed contract could achieve US$50.

About 40% of the leasing contracts shall be due for renewal within this year and average rental increase is

expected to be not less than 50%.

The rental income for the Group’s other investment properties located in Hong Kong and the PRC has been

stable during the year.

Property Development
With a sound cash reserve, the Group is proactively looking for appropriate and synergized high quality

property investments in order to optimize the shareholders’ value. Land reserve is the major asset of property

developers to sustain growth and thus, increase the land reserve will be the master plan of our Group future

development.

The Group plans to build apartments for sales in a land area of 19,000 m2 in Binh Chanh District in Ho Chi

Minh City and the Group owns 85% interest in the project. The gross floor areas will be about 110,000 m2 and

construction is expected to commence in July 2008. The project will be in 2 phases. The first phase with

50,000 m2 will be completed at the end of year 2009 while the second phase with 50,000 m2 will be completed

in the year 2010.

For the property development projects jointly cooperated with CNS, a plastic factory owned by CNS in District

7 with a land area of 7,500 m2 and its showroom in District 5 with a land area of 3,000 m2 will be relocated to

the suburb of the City within this year. CNS and the Group intended to cooperate in re-developing the two

pieces of land into commercial and residential areas.
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The Group upholds the principle of reasonable cost and good location when seeking for property projects in

Ho Chi Minh City for its land reserve. Since the formal admission of Vietnam into WTO, there was a frenzy

period in Vietnam in which asking price for land and projects was too high. No ideal project has yet been

found. Currently, as a result of some cooling measures of the government in Vietnam, the property market

has seen been more rational and thus shall provide more and better opportunities to the Group to negotiate

for good projects in this year.

Traditional Chinese Medicine
The Group’s TCM business will continue its clinical studies on its anti-ageing product with the Clinical Research

Center of Hong Kong University in this year. For the year ended 31 December 2007, the operating loss of the

TCM business was HK$2,593,000 (2006: HK$85,790,000).

Dividend
During the year, the Group recorded a remarkable growth in its overall business. Besides retaining cash for

its expansion and investments, the board of directors recommended to distribute a final dividend of HK5

cents per shares to the shareholders and together with the interim dividend of HK3 cents per share already

distributed, the total dividend for the full year of 2007 will be HK8 cents per share.

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my gratitude to my fellow Directors, management and staff

members for their contributions to the Group and to our shareholders for their support, confidence and

recognition to the Group’s strategies and direction. The management and all staff of the Group shall dedicate

to continue to optimize value for our shareholders.

Luk King Tin

Chairman

Hong Kong

14 April 2008
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Financial Review
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits as at 31 December 2007 amounted to

HK$852,108,000 (31 December 2006: HK$126,631,000). The Group’s total borrowings amounted to

HK$303,448,000 (31 December 2006: HK$115,838,000), of which HK$122,023,000 was repayable within 1

year and HK$181,425,000 was repayable from 2 to 5 years.

The percentage of the Group’s borrowings denominated in HK$, US$ and Vietnamese Dong (“VND”) were

18%, 38% and 44% respectively. Of the total borrowings, about 35% were at fixed interest rates. The percentage

of cash and cash equivalents held by the Group in HK$, US$ and VND were approximately 56%, 38% and 6%

respectively.

The gearing ratio, expressed as the percentage of long-term debt to equity, was 8% as at 31 December 2007

(31 December 2006: 3%).

Share capital
On 29 May 2007, the Company issued 60,000,000 new shares at HK$12.80 per share, resulting in a significant

increase in issued shares during the period. The net proceed of the issuance after deducting expenses was

approximately HK$744,433,000.

Besides, for the year ended 31 December 2007, a total number of 13,550,000 share options have been

exercised resulting in the issuance of 13,550,000 new shares of the Company and thus also attributed to an

increase in new shares of the Company. As at 31 December 2007, there were 6,670,000 outstanding share

options of the Company yet to be exercised.

As at 31 December 2007, the total number of issued shares of the Company was 573,485,418 shares

(as at 31 December 2006: 499,935,418 shares).

Significant investments held
As at 31 December 2007, the Group has no significant investment held.

Employees and Remuneration Policy
As at 31 December 2007, the Group had approximately 1,030 employees. Most of them were in Vietnam. The

total staff cost (excluding directors remuneration) was approximately HK$31,209,000 for the year ended

31 December 2007 (31 December 2006: HK$23,645,000). The Company operates a share options scheme

and options are granted to certain employees in order to encourage their contribution to the Group. There

was no significant change in the Group’s remuneration policy as compared to last financial year.
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Details of charges
As at 31 December 2007, the Group pledged certain fixed assets at a net book value of HK$206,326,000. In

addition, bank deposits of HK$8,109,000 of the Group have been pledged to bank for the purchase of fixed

assets.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and related hedges
The Group has exposed to the risk of exchange rate’s fluctuation in Vietnamese Dong (“VND”) for its investments

in Vietnam. Yet, the exchange rate of VND to US$ was relatively stable throughout the accounting period, with

a devaluation of less than 1% as at 31 December 2007 when compared to the rate as at 31 December 2006.

The Company has not employed any hedging instrument as the market for such kind of hedging instruments

are either in lack of or not cost efficient to use of. In order to minimize exposure to the exchange rate risk, the

cement plant makes use of its surplus cashflow and local banks’ borrowings of VND to repay loans denominated

in US$, especially the loan due to the parent company. Besides, most of the expenditures of the cement plant

are in VND. For the Saigon Trade Centre, over 90% of the leasing contracts are denominated in US$, whereas

most of its expenditures are in VND.

Details of contingent liability
As at 31 December 2007, the Group has no significant contingent liability (31 December 2006: Nil).
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The Company is committed to attaining good standard of corporate governance practices with an emphasis

on a quality Board, better transparency and effective accountability system.

Following the issue of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices, as set out in Appendix 14 to the Hong

Kong Listing Rules, the Company has carefully reviewed and considered its provisions, and carried out a

detailed analysis on the corporate governance practices of the Company against the requirements of the

Code. Throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2007, except for the requirements that the roles of

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual

(code provision A.4.1) and all directors should retire and rotate for at least every three years (code provision

A.4.2), the Company has complied with all code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices.

Currently, the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are performed by Mr. Luk King

Tin. Mr. Luk is the founder of the Company, has been the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the

Company and in charge of the overall management of the Company. The Company considers that the

combination of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and

implementation of the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to seize business opportunities

efficiently and promptly. The Company considers that through the supervision of its Board and its independent

non-executive directors, checks and balances exist so that the interests of the shareholders are adequately

and fairly represented.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the Company

were not subject to retirement by rotation, which thus constitutes a deviation from the code provision A.4.2.

Since the Chairman is responsible for the formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies, which

is essential to the stability of the Company’s business and thus the Board considers that the deviation is

acceptable.

The Board of Directors
The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things, formulating the Group’s overall strategies,

setting management targets, regulating internal controls and financial management, and supervising the

management’s performance while the day-to-day operations and management are delegated by the Board to

the senior management of the Company. The Board operates in accordance with established practices

(including those relating to reporting and supervision), and is directly responsible for formulating the Company’s

corporate governance guidelines.
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The Board currently comprises 8 directors, namely Mr. LUK King Tin (the Chairman), Mdm. CHENG Cheung,

Mr. LUK Yan, Mr. LUK Fung and Mr. FAN Chiu Tat, Martin as executive directors, Mr. LIANG Fang, Mr. LIU Li Yuan

and Mr. TAM Kan Wing as independent non-executive directors. Their biographical details are presented on

pages 15 to 16 of this annual report. The Company and its directors (including independent non-executive

directors) have not entered into any service contract with a specified length of service. All directors, except

the Chairman, are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of the Company

at least every three years. The Company has received a confirmation of independence from each of the

independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. LIANG Fang, Mr. LIU Li Yuan and Mr. TAM Kan Wing and

considers them to be independent. The Company has received acknowledgements from the directors of their

responsibility for preparing the financial statements and a statement by the auditors of the Company about

their reporting responsibilities.

The Board convened five meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 2007. Mr. LUK King Tin,

Mdm. CHENG Cheung, Mr. LUK Yan, Mr. LUK Fung and Mr. FAN Chiu Tat, Martin attended all six board

meetings while Mr. LIANG Fang, Mr. LIU Li Yuan and Mr. TAM Kan Wing attended two board meetings.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
The Board is responsible for the appointment and removal of Directors.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors shall retire

from office by rotation. If the number of Board members is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to

but not greater than one-third shall retire by rotation. Retired Directors are eligible for re-election at each

annual general meeting.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, any director in his first year of appointment is subject to re-election by

shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term of one year and are subject to

re-election at each annual general meeting.

The Board currently has two principal board committees, which are the audit committee and the remuneration

committee.
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Audit Committee
The Company has established the audit committee, which is comprised solely of independent non-executive

directors, namely Mr. LIANG Fang, Mr. LIU Li Yuan and Mr. TAM Kan Wing. All members of our audit committee

have many years of finance and business management experience and expertise. The audit committee’s

primary responsibilities include, among other things, making recommendation to the board of directors on

the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors, approving the remuneration and terms

of engagement of the external auditors, reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and

objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit procedure in accordance with applicable standards, developing

and implementing policies on the engagement of external auditors to provide non-audit services, monitoring

the integrity of financial statements of the Company and the Company’s report and financial statements and

overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system and internal control procedures.

In 2007, the audit committee met twice, and mainly reviewed the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,

annual report and accounts, interim report and the significant financial reporting judgments contained in

such financial statements and reports, discussed and approved the budgets and remuneration of, and services

provided by, the external auditors, reviewed the Company’s internal audit procedures and reports, reviewed

and the compliance situation with relevant laws and regulations. All members attended all meetings.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2007, including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, in conjunction with

the Company’s external auditors.

Remuneration Committee
The Company has established the remuneration committee, which is comprised of Mr. LIANG Fang and

Mr. LIU Li Yuan being independent non-executive directors of the Company and Mr. LUK King Tin, the Chairman

of the Company. The primary responsibilities of the remuneration committee include, among other things,

determining the remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management, making

recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive directors, reviewing and approving

performance-based remuneration, ensuring that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding

his own remuneration, making recommendations to the board of directors on the Company’s policy and

structure for remuneration of employees, including salaries, incentive schemes and other stock plans. In

2007, the remuneration committee met twice. All members attended the meeting.

At present, remunerations of the senior management of the Company mainly consist of fixed monthly salary.

Certain senior management is also awarded with a performance-linked annual bonus, which is tied to the

attainment of key performance indicators targets. Share options were also granted to executive directors and

senior management of the Company during the year. The remuneration of non-executive directors is determined

with reference to the prevailing market conditions and workload of being non-executive directors and members

of the board committees of the Company.



Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Co. Ltd.

Corporate Governance Practices

12

Internal Control and Management
The Board recognizes its responsibility for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to safeguard

the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests.

Internal control, including a defined management structure with limits of authority, is designed to help achieve

business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized use, maintain proper accounting records for the

provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication. The system is set up to provide

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material mis-statement or loss and to manage rather than

eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

Management maintains and monitors the system of controls on an ongoing basis.

During 2007, based on the evaluations made by management, the Audit Committee was satisfied that nothing

has come to its attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the system of internal control is

inadequate, and there is an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks faced by the

Group.

Communication With Shareholders
The Group discloses relevant information to shareholders through the Group’s website, annual report and

financial statements, the interim report, periodic company announcements as well as the Annual General

Meeting (“AGM”). The section under “Management Discussion and Analysis” of the annual reports facilitate

the shareholders’ understanding of the Company’s activities. The AGM allows the Directors to meet and

communicate with shareholders.

The Company’s financial statements and each of the required disclosure of information are dispatched within

the prescribed period imposed by laws and regulations.

Directors’ Securities Transactions
The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set

out in Appendix 10 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) to regulate the directors’ securities

transactions. All directors have confirmed, following enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with

the Model Code during the period between 1 January 2007 and 31 December 2007.

Auditors’ Remuneration
The Company has engaged Ernst & Young as statutory auditors of the Company. For the year ended

31 December 2007, amounts of HK$1,151,000 and HK$40,000 were paid/payable to Ernst & Young for their

statutory audit service, and tax and consultancy services respectively.
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the

year ended 31 December 2007.

Change of company name
Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 16 May 2007

and approved by the Registrar of Companies of Bermuda, the name of the Company was changed from Luks

Industrial (Group) Limited to Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Company Limited.

The Chinese translation of the Company name for identification purposes was charged from 陸氏實業（集團）

有限公司 to 陸氏集團（越南控股）有限公司.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the principal

subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the

nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

Results and dividends
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the state of affairs of the Company and the

Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 23 to 107.

An interim dividend of HK3 cents per ordinary share was paid on 23 October 2007. The directors recommend

the payment of a final dividend of HK5 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to shareholders on the

register of members on 21 May 2008. This recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements

as an allocation of contributed surplus within the equity section of the balance sheet.

Summary financial information
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last five

financial years is set out on page 110. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and investment properties of the Company and

the Group during the year are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively. Further

details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 108 to 109.

Share capital and share options
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the year are set out in notes

34 and 35 to the financial statements.
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Pre-emptive rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Purchase, redemption or sale of listed securities of the Company
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed

securities during the year.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 36(b)

to the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

Distributable reserves
At 31 December 2007, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the

Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to approximately HK$469,601,000, of which approximately

HK$28,427,000 has been proposed as a final dividend for the year. In addition, the Company’s share premium

account, in the amount of approximately HK$973,732,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus

shares.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contr ibutions totall ing approximately HK$489,000

(2006:HK$399,000).

Major customers and suppliers
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 35% of the

total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 22%.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 54% of the total purchases for

the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 18%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best

knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five largest suppliers.
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Directors
The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

Luk King Tin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Cheng Cheung

Luk Yan

Luk Fung

Fan Chiu Tat, Martin

Independent non-executive directors:

Liu Li Yuan

Liang Fang

Tam Kan Wing

In accordance with clause 87 of the Company’s bye-laws, Madam Cheng Cheung and Mr. Luk Fung will retire

and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The

independent non-executive directors, Mr. Liu Li Yuan, Liang Fang and Tam Kan Wing, are appointed for a

period of one year and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr. Liu Li Yuan, Liang Fang and

Tam Kan Wing and still considers them to be independent.

Directors’ and senior management’s biographies
Mr. Luk King Tin, aged 70, is the chairman of the board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr.

Luk is also the founder of the Group and has been with the Group for over 30 years. He is responsible for

formulating the Group’s strategies and policies.

Madam Cheng Cheung, aged 67, is an executive director of the Company. Madam Cheng is the wife of Mr.

Luk King Tin and has been with the Group for over 30 years. She is mainly responsible for the finance, human

resources and administrative functions of the Group.

Mr. Luk Yan, aged 43, is an executive director of the Company. Mr. Luk is a son of Mr. Luk King Tin and Madam

Cheng Cheung. He is now responsible for the Group’s property investment and management in Vietnam. He

has been with the Group for 18 years.

Mr. Luk Fung, aged 39, is an executive director of the Company. Mr. Luk is a son of Mr. Luk King Tin and

Madam Cheng Cheung. He has years of experience in the financial services industry prior to joining the

Group. Mr. Luk graduated from Simon Fraser University in Canada. He is responsible for the development of

the traditional Chinese medicine business of the Group. He has been with the Group for 8 years.
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Mr. Fan Chiu Tat, Martin, aged 41, is an executive director and the company secretary of the Company. He

graduated from The University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Fan is

also the financial controller of the Company. He has been with the Group for 18 years.

Mr. Liu Li Yuan, aged 57, is an independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Liu is a graduate with

a diploma from the Faculty of Law of the University of Beijing. He is currently a managing director of a

property investment and management company in Mainland China.

Mr. Liang Fang, aged 56, is an independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Liang is a holder of an

MBA degree from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology of the United States of America. He has been

working in the IT business for a number of years. Mr. Liang is currently the General Manager of Jointech

Software (Shenzhen) Co., Limited.

Mr. Tam Kan Wing, aged 42, is an independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Tam is the sole

proprietor of a CPA firm in Hong Kong. He is a holder of a bachelor’s degree of Arts in Accountancy from the

City University of Hong Kong. He is also a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He has more than 19 years of experience in the auditing,

taxation, finance and accounting fields.

Directors’ service contracts
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with

the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ remuneration
The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined

by the Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and

the results of the Group.

Directors’ interests in contracts
No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business

of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares and

underlying shares
At 31 December 2007, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executive in the share

capital and underlying shares of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV

of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions

by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

Percentage of

Directly Through Through the Company’s

beneficially spouse or controlled issued share

Name of director Notes owned minor children corporation Total capital

Luk King Tin (a) 189,552,399 — 62,684,958 252,237,357 43.98

Cheng Cheung (b) 18,028,800 — 36,912,027 54,940,827 9.58

Luk Yan (c) 3,070,800 174,000 — 3.244.800 0.57

Luk Fung 3,129,600 — — 3.129.600 0.55

Fan Chiu Tat, Martin 1,500,000 — — 1,500,000 0.26

215,281,599 174,000 99,596,985 315,052,584 54.94

Long positions in share options of the Company:

Number of options directly

Name of director beneficially owned

Cheng Cheung 1,000,000

1,000,000



Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Co. Ltd.

Report of the Directors

18

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares and

underlying shares (Continued)

Long positions in shares of an associated corporation:

Percentage of

the associated

Name of Relationship Capacity corporation’s

associated with the Number of and nature issued

Name of director Note corporation Company shares held of interest share capital

Luk King Tin and (d) Vigconic International Company’s 2,299,908 Through 25

Luk Fung (Holdings) Limited subsidiary controlled

(formerly known as corporation

Heritage Ventures

International Limited)

(“VI”)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Luk King Tin had a beneficial interest in KT (Holdings) Limited, which held 62,684,958 shares of the Company

at the balance sheet date.

(b) Madam Cheng Cheung had a beneficial interest in CC (Holdings) Limited, which held 36,912,027 shares of the

Company at the balance sheet date.

(c) Mr. Luk Yan had a family interest, which held 174,000 shares of the Company at the balance sheet date.

(d) Mr. Luk King Tin and Luk Fung had a beneficial interest in Vigconic Biotechnology Company Limited, which held

2,299,908 shares of US$1 each of VI at the balance sheet date.

In addition to the above, certain directors have non-beneficial personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries

held for the benefit of the Company solely for the purpose of complying with the minimum company membership

requirements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, none of the directors or chief executive had registered an

interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated

corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares and

underlying shares (Continued)

Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures

Save as disclosed in the section “Share option scheme” below, at no time during the year were rights to

acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any

director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the

Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights

in any other body corporate.

Share option scheme
The directors have estimated the values of the share options granted during the year, calculated using the

Black-Scholes option pricing model as at the date of grant of the options:

Number of options Theoretical value

Grantee granted during the year of share options

HK$

Other employees (in aggregate) 4,000,000 9,836,000

The Black-Scholes option pricing model is a generally accepted method of valuing options. The significant

assumptions used in the calculation of the values of the share options are set out in note 35 to the financial

statements. The measurement dates used in the valuation calculations were the dates on which the options

were granted.

The values of share options calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model are subject to certain

fundamental limitations, due to the subjective nature of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions

of the expected future performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of the model itself.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any change to the

variables used may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.
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Substantial shareholders’ and other persons’ interests and short positions

in shares and underlying shares
At 31 December 2007, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company were

recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions:

Percentage of

Number of the Company’s

ordinary issued share

Name Capacity and nature of interest shares held capital

KT (Holdings) Limited Directly beneficially owned 62,684,958 10,93

CC (Holdings) Limited Directly beneficially owned 36,912,027 6.44

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, no person, other than the directors of the Company,

whose interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ interests and short positions in shares and

underlying shares” above, had registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of

the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Sufficiency of public float
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at

least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

Auditors
Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Luk King Tin

Chairman

Hong Kong

14 April 2008



Annual Report 2007

Independent Auditors’ Report

21

To the shareholders of Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Company Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Company Limited set out on

pages  23 to 107, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2007,

and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these

financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to

the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. Our report is

made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for

no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

18th Floor
Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central
Hong Kong
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Auditors’ responsibility (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment

of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making

those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true

and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation

of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of

the Group as at 31 December 2007 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

14 April 2008
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Notes 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 5 529,251 373,744

Cost of sales (252,273) (173,333)

Gross profit 276,978 200,411

Other income and gains 5 21,636 10,610
Fair value gains on investment properties, net 207,192 245,120
Selling and distribution costs (49,626) (26,144)
Administrative expenses (78,311) (70,766)
Other expenses (4,954) (6,819)
Impairment of goodwill — (77,716)
Finance costs 7 (14,688) (10,917)
Share of profits and losses of jointly-controlled entities (2,107) (2,642)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 356,120 261,137

Tax 10 (56,218) (62,886)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 299,902 198,251

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 11 302,640 200,343
Minority interests (2,738) (2,092)

299,902 198,251

DIVIDENDS 12
Interim 17,199 14,879
Proposed final 28,427 25,650

45,626 40,529

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13

Basic 55.4 cents 40.6 cents

Diluted 55.0 cents 39.9 cents
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Notes 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 14 688,552 460,164

Investment properties 15 1,116,165 899,441

Prepaid land lease payments 16 20,144 22,174

Goodwill 17 15,842 15,842

Interests in jointly-controlled entities 19 2,941 2,824

Available-for-sale investments 21 458 657

Deposits 93,270 —

Deferred tax assets 33 47 —

Time deposit 22 — 15,600

Total non-current assets 1,937,419 1,416,702

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 23 13,917 19,496

Trade receivables 24 30,160 24,879

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 43,139 20,843

Debt investments at fair value through profit or loss 25 1,094 1,094

Pledged deposits 26 8,109 20,869

Cash and cash equivalents 26 843,999 90,162

Total current assets 940,418 177,343

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables 27 24,236 19,911

Tax payable 24,914 35,903

Other payables and accruals 66,552 71,239

Due to directors 28 92 901

Due to a related company 29 5,061 4,334

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 30 122,023 77,419

Total current liabilities 242,878 209,707

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 697,540 (32,364)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,634,959 1,384,338
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Notes 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,634,959 1,384,338

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 30 181,425 38,419

Rental deposits 31,184 25,416

Provisions 32 5,044 4,533

Deferred tax liabilities 33 161,591 97,255

Total non-current liabilities 379,244 165,623

Net assets 2,255,715 1,218,715

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued capital 34 5,735 4,999

Reserves 36(a) 2,225,623 1,190,158

Proposed final dividend 12 28,427 25,650

2,259,785 1,220,807

Minority interests (4,070) (2,092)

Total equity 2,255,715 1,218,715

Luk King Tin Cheng Cheung

Director Director
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Share Share Exchange Proposed

Issued premium Contributed option fluctuation Retained final Minority Total

Notes capital account surplus reserve reserve profits dividend Total interests equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 36(a))

At 1 January 2006 4,907 198,801 704,249 — (70,374) 183,995 24,535 1,046,113 — 1,046,113

Exchange realignment — — — — (783) — — (783) — (783)

Total income and expense

recognised directly in equity — — — — (783) — — (783) — (783)

Profit for the year — — — — — 200,343 — 200,343 (2,092) 198,251

Equity-settled share

option arrangements 35 — — — 3,380 — — — 3,380 — 3,380

Issue of shares 34 92 12,318 — (1,242) — — — 11,168 — 11,168

Total income and expense

for the year 92 12,318 — 2,138 (783) 200,343 — 214,108 (2,092) 212,016

Final 2005 dividend declared — — — — — — (24,535) (24,535) — (24,535)

Interim 2006 dividend 12 — — (14,879) — — — — (14,879) — (14,879)

Proposed final 2006 dividend 12 — — (25,650) — — — 25,650 — — —

At 31 December 2006 4,999 211,119* 663,720* 2,138* (71,157)* 384,338* 25,650 1,220,807 (2,092) 1,218,715
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Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Share Share Exchange Proposed

Issued premium Contributed option fluctuation Retained final Minority Total

Notes capital account surplus reserve reserve profits dividend Total interests equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 36(a))

At 1 January 2007 4,999 211,119* 663,720* 2,138* (71,157)* 384,338* 25,650 1,220,807 (2,092) 1,218,715

Exchange realignment — — — — 13,903 — — 13,903 — 13,903

Total income and expense

recognised directly in equity — — — — 13,903 — — 13,903 — 13,903

Profit for the year — — — — — 302,640 — 302,640 (2,738) 299,902

Equity-settled share

option arrangements 35 — — — 3,904 — — — 3,904 — 3,904

Issue of shares 34 736 762,613 — (1,969) — — — 761,380 — 761,380

Total income and

expense for the year 736 762,613 — 1,935 13,903 302,640 — 1,081,827 (2,738) 1,079,089

Acquisition of a subsidiary 37 — — — — — — — — 760 760

Final 2006 dividend declared — — — — — — (25,650) (25,650) — (25,650)

Interim 2007 dividend 12 — — (17,199) — — — — (17,199) — (17,199)

Proposed final 2007 dividend 12 — — (28,427) — — — 28,427 — — —

At 31 December 2007 5,735 973,732* 618,094* 4,073* (57,254)* 686,978* 28,427 2,259,785 (4,070) 2,255,715

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,225,623,000 (2006: HK$1,190,158,000) in

the consolidated balance sheet.
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Notes 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 356,120 261,137

Adjustments for:

Finance costs 7 14,617 10,917

Share of profits and losses of jointly-controlled entities 2,107 2,642

Bank interest income 5 (18,137) (5,349)

Write-back of trade and other payables 5 — (2,928)

Equity-settled share option expense 35 3,904 3,380

Fair value gains on investment properties, net (207,192) (245,120)

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant

and equipment 5 (816) (328)

Depreciation 6 32,082 18,626

Recognition of prepaid land lease payments 6 2,012 2,113

Excess over the cost of acquisition 37 (213) —

Impairment of goodwill 6 — 77,716

Impairment of an interest in an associate 6 3 3

Impairment of trade receivables 6 211 163

Impairment of available-for-sale investments 6 199 473

184,897 123,445

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 5,580 (6,032)

Increase in trade receivables (5,377) (4,951)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits

and other receivables (22,296) 7,617

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 4,298 (2,036)

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals (5,455) 17,509

Increase in provision of long service payments 138 —

Increase/(decrease) in an amount

due to a related company 727 (2,068)

Increase in rental deposits 5,768 6,368

Cash generated from operations 168,280 139,852

Interest paid (14,617) (10,917)

Hong Kong profits tax paid — (16)

Overseas taxes paid (2,934) (4,157)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 150,729 124,762
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Notes 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 150,729 124,762

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 18,137 5,349
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (254,515) (107,429)
Decrease in a time deposit 15,600 —
Decrease in pledged deposits 12,760 6,482
Increase in non-current deposits (93,270) —
Increase in loans to associates (3) —
Acquisition of a subsidiary 37 (1,421) —
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment 2,218 2,730
Purchase of an interest in a jointly-controlled entity — (1,560)
Purchase of an available-for-sale investment — (139)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (300,494) (94,567)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares 761,380 11,168
New bank loans 267,844 18,869
Repayment of bank loans (80,531) (24,650)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (403) (496)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to directors (809) 614
Decrease in an amount due to a related company — (1,528)
Dividends paid (42,849) (39,412)

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 904,632 (35,435)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 754,867 (5,240)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 90,162 90,143
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (1,030) 5,259

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 843,999 90,162

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 26 320,606 37,420
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity

of less than three months when acquired 26 523,393 52,742

843,999 90,162



Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Co. Ltd.

Balance Sheet
31 December 2007

30

Notes 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 203 277
Interests in subsidiaries 18 905,116 645,030
Time deposit 22 — 15,600

Total non-current assets 905,319 660,907

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments 1,013 —
Debt investments at fair value through profit or loss 25 1,094 1,094
Pledged deposits 26 8,109 20,869
Cash and cash equivalents 26 577,985 56,610

Total current assets 588,201 78,573

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 1,620 1,446
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 30 8,400 —
Due to directors 28 92 901

Total current liabilities 10,112 2,347

NET CURRENT ASSETS 578,089 76,226

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,483,408 737,133

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 30 30,267 —

Net assets 1,453,141 737,133

EQUITY
Issued capital 34 5,735 4,999
Reserves 36(b) 1,418,979 706,484
Proposed final dividend 12 28,427 25,650

Total equity 1,453,141 737,133

Luk King Tin Cheng Cheung

Director Director
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1. Corporate Information
Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Company Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda.

The principal office of the Company is located at 5/F., Cheong Wah Factory Building, 39-41 Sheung

Heung Road, Tokwawan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal activities:

• manufacture and sale of cement

• property investment

• manufacture and sale of traditional Chinese medicine products

• sale of electronic products

• sale of plywood and other wood products

• investment holding

2.1 Basis of Preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong

Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical

cost convention, except for investment properties, derivative financial instruments and certain equity

investments, which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise

indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2007. Adjustments

are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The results of subsidiaries

are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and

continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All significant intercompany

transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been accounted for using the purchase method of

accounting. This method involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of

the identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity

instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly

attributable to the acquisition.
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not held by the Group in the results

and net assets of the Company’s subsidiaries. An acquisition of minority interests is accounted for

using the parent entity extension method whereby the difference between the consideration and the

book value of the share of the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

2.2 Impact of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s

financial statements. Except for in certain cases giving rise to new and revised accounting policies and

additional disclosures, the adoption of these new and revised standards and interpretations has had

no material effect on these financial statements.

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HKAS 1 Amendment Capital Disclosures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:

(a) HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

This standard requires disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the

significance of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from

those financial instruments. The new disclosures are included throughout the financial statements.

While there has been no effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Group,

comparative information has been included/revised where appropriate.

(b) Amendment to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements — Capital Disclosures

This amendment requires the Group to make disclosures that enable users of the financial

statements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.

These new disclosures are shown in note 44 to the financial statements.
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2.2 Impact of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

(Continued)

(c) HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

This interpretation requires HKFRS 2 to be applied to any arrangement in which the Group

cannot identify specifically some or all of the goods or services received, for which equity

instruments are granted or liabilities (based on a value of the Group’s equity instruments) are

incurred by the Group for a consideration, and which appears to be less than the fair value of the

equity instruments granted or liabilities incurred. The interpretation has had no effect on these

financial statements.

(d) HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

This interpretation requires that the date to assess whether an embedded derivative is required

to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative is the date that the

Group first becomes a party to the contract, with reassessment only if there is a change to the

contract that significantly modifies the cash flows. As the Group’s existing policy of accounting

for derivatives complies with the requirements of the interpretation, the interpretation has had

no effect on these financial statements.

(e) HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The Group has adopted this interpretation as of 1 January 2007, which requires that an impairment

loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an

equity instrument classified as available-for-sale or a financial asset carried at cost is not

subsequently reversed. As the Group had no impairment losses previously reversed in respect

of such assets, the interpretation has had no impact on the financial position or results of

operations of the Group.
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2.3 Impact of Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not

yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 2 Amendment Share-based Payments - Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 1

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations 5

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments 1

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements1

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs 1

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 5

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions 2

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements 4

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 3

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding

Requirements and their Interaction 4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

HKFRS 2 has been amended to restrict the definition of “vesting condition” to a condition that includes

an explicit or implicit requirement to provide services. Any other conditions are non-vesting conditions,

which have to be taken into account to determine the fair value of the equity instruments granted. In

the case that the award does not vest as the result of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition that is

within the control of either the entity or the counterparty, this must be accounted for as a cancellation.

The Group has not entered into share-based payment schemes with non-vesting conditions attached

and, therefore, does not expect significant implications on its accounting for share-based payments.

HKFRS 3 has been revised to introduce a number of changes in the accounting for business

combinations that will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that

an acquisition occurs, and future reported results.
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2.3 Impact of Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (Continued)

HKFRS 8, which will replace HKAS 14 Segment Reporting, specifies how an entity should report

information about its operating segments, based on information about the components of the entity

that is available to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating resources to the

segments and assessing their performance. The standard also requires the disclosure of information

about the products and services provided by the segments, the geographical areas in which the Group

operates, and revenue from the Group’s major customers. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 8 from

1 January 2009.

HKAS 1 has been revised to introduce changes in presentation and disclosures of financial statements

and does not change the recognition, measurement or disclosure of specific transactions and other

events required by other HKFRSs.

HKAS 23 has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs when such costs are directly

attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. As the Group’s current

policy for borrowing costs aligns with the requirements of the revised standard, the revised standard is

unlikely to have any financial impact on the Group.

HKAS 27 has been revised to require a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary is accounted

for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give

rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred

by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to the Group’s equity

instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the Group acquires the instruments

from another party, or the shareholders provide the equity instruments needed. HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 also

addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions involving two or more entities within

the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 requires an operator under public-to-private service concession arrangements to

recognise the consideration received or receivable in exchange for the construction services as a

financial asset and/or an intangible asset, based on the terms of the contractual arrangements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 also addresses how an operator shall apply existing HKFRSs to account for the

obligations and the rights arising from service concession arrangements by which a government or a

public sector entity grants a contract for the construction of infrastructure used to provide public services

and/or for the supply of public services. As the Group currently has no such arrangements, the

interpretation is unlikely to have any financial impact on the Group.
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2.3 Impact of Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 requires that loyalty award credits granted to customers as part of a sales transaction

are accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction. The consideration received in the

sales transaction is allocated between the loyalty award credits and the other components of the sale.

The amount allocated to the loyalty award credits is determined by reference to their fair value and is

deferred until the awards are redeemed or the liability is otherwise extinguished.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 addresses how to assess the limit under HKAS 19 Employee Benefits on the amount

of a refund or a reduction in future contributions in relation to a defined benefit scheme that can be

recognised as an asset, in particular, when a minimum funding requirement exists.

As the Group currently has no customer loyalty award credits and defined benefit scheme, HK(IFRIC)-

Int 13 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 are not applicable to the Group and therefore are unlikely to have any

financial impact on the Group.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs

upon initial application.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or

indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends

received and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment

losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties

undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group and

the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the capital contributions of the joint

venture parties, the duration of the joint venture entity and the basis on which the assets are to be

realised upon its dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations and any

distributions of surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in proportion to their respective

capital contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Joint ventures (Continued)

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral control, but has joint control,

directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associates, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly,

generally not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a position to exercise

significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or

indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint control of,

nor is in a position to exercise significant influence over, the joint venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint control, resulting in none of the

participating parties having unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s interests in jointly-controlled entities are stated in the consolidated balance sheet at the

Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The

Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of jointly-controlled entities is included in

the consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Where the profit sharing

ratio is different to the Group’s equity interest, the share of post-acquisition results of the jointly-controlled

entities is determined based on the agreed profit sharing ratio. Unrealised gains and losses resulting

from transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of

the Group’s interests in the jointly-controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide evidence

of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The results of jointly-controlled entities are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent

of dividends received and receivable. The Company’s interests in jointly-controlled entities are treated

as non-current assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled entity, in which the Group has a

long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a

position to exercise significant influence.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the consolidated balance sheet at the Group’s share

of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of

the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is included in the consolidated income statement

and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between

the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates,

except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends

received and receivable. The Company’s interests in associates are treated as non-current assets and

are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of the business

combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair values of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired,

and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as an asset, initially

measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its

annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the

acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating

units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other

assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of

cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss

is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the

operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is

included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the

operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the

operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities

and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries (previously referred to as negative

goodwill), after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, financial assets, investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by,
or is under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d); or

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises

its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and

location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have

been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement

in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure

has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an

item of property, plant and equipment, and where the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the

expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant

and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for

this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the lease terms

Leasehold improvements 18%  — 20%

Plant and machinery 4%  — 15%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 9%  — 20%

Computer equipment 18%  — 20%

Launch 15%

Motor vehicles 14%  — 25%
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that

item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

each balance sheet date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic

benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in

the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, structures, plant and machinery and other items of

property, plant and equipment under construction or installation, which is stated at cost less any

impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction or installation

during the period of construction or installation. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate

category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn rental income and/or for capital

appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative

purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,

including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair

value, which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the

income statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the

income statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other

than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the

leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together

with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held

under capitalised finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over

the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such

leases are charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over

the lease terms.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are

accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under

operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases

are credited to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group

is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are charged to the income statement on the

straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently

recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated

reliably between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of

the land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial

assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at

fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group assesses whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when the Group first becomes

a party to it and assesses whether an embedded derivatives is required to be separated from the host

contract when the analysis shows that the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded

derivatives are not closely related to those of the host contract. Reassessment only occurs if there is a

change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be

required under contract.

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed

and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the

date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases

or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.



Annual Report 2007

Notes to financial statements
31 December 2007

43

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial

assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are

classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,

including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are

designated as effective hedging instruments or financial guarantee contracts. Gains or losses on these

financial assets are recognised in the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in

the income statement does not include any dividends on these financial assets, which are recognised

in accordance with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be

designated as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, except where the embedded derivative

does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is

prohibited.

Financial assets may be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the

following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment

that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or recognising gains or losses on them on a

different basis; (ii) the assets are part of a group of financial assets which are managed and their performance

evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the

financial asset contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that

are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the

effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into

account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the

effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement

when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation

process.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity

securities that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of the other two categories.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with gains or

losses recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the

investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported

in equity is included in the income statement. Interest earned is reported as interest income and is

recognised in the income statement as “Revenue” in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue

recognition” below. Losses arising from the impairment of such investments are recognised in the

income statement as “Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets”.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability

in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities

of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair

value, such securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by

reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business at the balance sheet date. For investments

where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques

include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another

instrument which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised

cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses

that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced

either directly or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is

recognised in the income statement. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance

are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised

impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an

impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the

asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence

(such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and significant

changes in the technological, market economic or legal environment that have an adverse effect on

the debtor) that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of

an invoice. The carrying amount of the receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account.

Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss have been incurred on an unquoted equity

instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the

amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present

value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial

asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of

any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously

recognised in the income statement, is transferred from equity to the income statement. A provision for

impairment is made for available-for-sale equity investments when there has been a significant or

prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment

exists. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. In addition, the

Group evaluates other factors, such as the share price volatility. Impairment losses on equity instruments

classified as available for sale are not reversed through the income statement.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is derecognised where:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

• the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation

to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor

retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the

asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred

nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the

asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing

involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of

the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group

could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-

settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing

involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except in the case

of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at

fair value, where the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair

value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including interest-bearing loans and

borrowings)

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings are

initially stated at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. The related interest expense is recognised within

“finance costs” in the income statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well

as through the amortisation process.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS 39 are accounted for as financial liabilities. A

financial guarantee contract is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly

attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee contract, except when such contract is

recognised at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures

the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in accordance with HKAS

37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised

less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted

average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,

direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated

selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on

hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into

known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short

maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at

banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a

past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,

provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value

at the balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in

finance costs in the income statement.



Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Co. Ltd.

Notes to financial statements
31 December 2007

48

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement, or

in equity if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected

to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet

date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability

in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates

and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can

be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused

tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available

against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and

unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,

at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,

associates and an interest in a joint venture, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the

extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and

taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the

deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed

at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the

period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have

been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity

and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when

the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred

to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree

usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms; and

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that

discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument

to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to

eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including

directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby

employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the

date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using the Black-

Scholes model, further details of which are given in note 35 to the financial statements. In valuing

equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions

linked to the price of the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity,

over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on

which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative

expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each balance sheet date until the vesting date

reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number

of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a period

represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that

period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is

conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the

market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as

if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, which

increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to

the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,

and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award

is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is

granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award,

as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of

earnings per share.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme

(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees

who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of

the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as they become payable in

accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately

from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions

vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate allocation of contributed surplus

within the equity section of the balance sheet, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a

general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they

are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum

and bye-laws grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim

dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional

and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items

included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign

currency transactions are initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the date of the

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the

functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the

income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency

are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items

measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when

the fair value was determined.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities are currencies

other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these

entities are translated into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at

the balance sheet date, and their income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the

weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are included in the

exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised

in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently

recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong

Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements,

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,

and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group

has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties

which are leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed

criteria in making that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital

appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows largely

independently of the other assets held by the Group.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

Judgements (Continued)

Impairment assessment for trade receivables

The policy for impairment assessment for trade receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of

collectability and an aged analysis of trade receivables and on the judgement of management. A

considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,

including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer. If the financial

conditions of customers of the Group are to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to

make payments, provisions may be required.

The carrying amount of trade receivables at 31 December 2007 was approximately HK$30,160,000

(2006: HK$24,879,000).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the

balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an

estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating

the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the

cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value

of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2007 was approximately

HK$15,842,000 (2006: HK$15,842,000). More details are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar properties, the Group considers

information from a variety of sources, including:

(a) current prices in an active market for properties of a different nature, condition or location (or

subject to different leases or other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes

in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported by

the terms of any existing lease and other contracts and (when possible) by external evidence

such as current market rents for similar properties in the same location and condition, and using

discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and

timing of the cash flows.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties (Continued)

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the fair value include those related to current

market rents for similar properties in the same location and condition, appropriate discount rates,

expected future market rents and future maintenance costs.

The carrying amount of investment proper ties at 31 December 2007 was approximately

HK$1,116,165,000 (2006: HK$899,441,000) (note 15).

4. Segment Information
Segment information is presented by way of two segment formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting

basis, by business segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately according to the nature of

their operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business segments

represents a strategic business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and

returns that are different from those of the other business segments. Summary details of the business

segments are as follows:

(a) the cement products segment includes the Group’s manufacture and sale of cement products

for use in the construction industry;

(b) the property investment segment includes the Group’s investments in industrial, commercial

and residential premises for their rental income potential;

(c) the traditional Chinese medicine products segment includes the Group’s manufacture and sale

of traditional Chinese medicine products;

(d) the investment segment includes the Group’s investments in and holding of equity investments;

and

(e) the corporate and others segment comprises corporate income and expense items and the

Group’s manufacture and sale of electronic products and plywood products.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the segments based on

the location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the

assets.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales

made to third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. Segment Information (Continued)

(a) Business segments

The following tables present revenue, profit/(loss) and certain asset, liability and expenditure

information for the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31 December 2007 and

2006.

Group Traditional Chinese Corporate
Cement products Property investment medicine products Investment and others Eliminations Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:
Sales to external

customers 401,749 274,602 116,507 91,122 4,736 4,131 — — 6,259 3,889 — — 529,251 373,744
Intersegment sales — — 432 432 — — — — — 43,398 (432) (43,830) — —
Other income and gains 1,033 1,207 208,583 245,246 — 23 — 824 1,075 3,081 — — 210,691 250,381

Total 402,782 275,809 325,522 336,800 4,736 4,154 — 824 7,334 50,368 (432) (43,830) 739,942 624,125

Segment results 109,644 78,207 278,556 302,334 (2,593) (85,790) (98) (4,052) (30,731) (12,457) — (8,895) 354,778 269,347

Interest income 18,137 5,349
Finance costs (14,688) (10,917)
Share of profits and losses

of jointly-controlled
entities (2,107) (2,642)

Profit before tax 356,120 261,137

Tax (56,218) (62,886)

Profit for the year 299,902 198,251

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 795,365 521,389 1,163,474 915,335 1,711 4,126 49,619 50,890 348,669 19,165 (7,841) (8,895) 2,350,997 1,502,010
Interests in jointly-controlled

entities 2,941 2,824
Unallocated assets 523,899 89,211

Total assets 2,877,837 1,594,045

Segment liabilities 33,442 24,665 58.324 42,257 6,674 6,435 2,387 2,064 23,988 50,913 — — 124,815 126,334
Unallocated liabilities 497,307 248,996

Total liabilities 622,122 375,330

Other segment information:
Depreciation 24,467 15,862 2,162 190 399 536 3,162 1,454 1,892 584 — — 32,082 18,626
Capital expenditure 251,886 113,648 4,000 865 18 159 1,030 1,378 1,726 782 — (8,895) 258,660 107,937
Impairment of goodwill — — — — — 77,716 — — — — — — — 77,716
Impairment of an

interest in an associate — — — — — — 3 3 — — — — 3 3
Impairment of

trade receivables — — — — — — 211 163 — — — — 211 163
Impairment of

available-for-sale
investments — — — 239 — — — 234 — — — — — 473

Fair value gains on
investment properties, net — — 207,192 245,120 — — — — — — — — 207,192 245,120
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4. Segment Information (Continued)

(b) Geographical segments

The following table presents revenue, certain asset and expenditure information for the Group’s

geographical segments for the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2006.

Group Vietnam Mainland China Hong Kong Eliminations Consolidated

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:

Sales to external

customers 511,520 356,201 5,279 6,543 12,452 11,000 — — 529,251 373,744

Other segment information:

Segment assets 1,655,444 1,163,354 139,164 120,728 1,091,070 318,858 (7,841) (8,895) 2,877,837 1,594,045

Capital expenditure 257,518 114,864 — — 1,142 1,968 — (8,895) 258,660 107,937

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gain
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after

allowances for returns and trade discounts; and gross rental income received and receivable from

investment properties during the year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gain is as follows:

2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Sale of cement 401,749 274,602
Gross rental income 116,507 91,122
Sale of electronic products 770 1,309
Sale of traditional Chinese medicine products 4,736 4,131
Sale of plywood and other wood products 5,489 2,580

529,251 373,744

Other income and gain
Bank interest income 18,137 5,349
Excess over the cost of acquisition a subsidiary (note 37) 213 —

Write-back of trade and other payables — 2,928
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 816 328
Others 2,470 2,005

21,636 10,610
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6. Profit Before Tax
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2007 2006

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of inventories sold 235,365 164,023

Depreciation 14 32,082 18,626

Recognition of prepaid land lease payments 16 2,012 2,113

Research and development costs* 1,809 5,565

Auditors’ remuneration:

Provision for the year 1,456 1,014

Under-provision in the prior year — 143

1,456 1,157

Minimum operating lease payments

in respect of land and buildings 949 481

Employee benefits expense (excluding directors’

remuneration (note 8))

Wages and salaries 26,974 21,950

Equity-settled share option expense 35 3,904 1,429

Pension scheme contributions 331 266

31,209 23,645

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and

maintenance) arising on rental-earning

investment properties 3,931 2,833

Foreign exchange differences, net (1,431) 1,223

Net rental income (112,576) (88,289)

Impairment of goodwill* 17 — 77,716

Impairment of an interest in an associate* 20 3 3

Impairment of trade receivables* 24 211 163

Impairment of available-for-sale investments* 21 199 473

* These items are included in “Other expenses” on the face of the consolidated income statement.
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7. Finance Costs
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on overdrafts and bank loans wholly

repayable within five years 14,646 10,907

Interest on finance leases 42 10

14,688 10,917

8. Directors’ Remuneration
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees 800 800

Other emoluments:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 7,137 6,324

Discretionary bonuses 400 160

Employee share option benefits — 1,951

Pension scheme contributions 48 48

7,585 8,483

8,385 9,283

In 2006, certain directors were granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group, under

the share option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 35 to the financial

statements. The fair value of such options which has been recognised in the income statement over

the vesting period was determined at the date of grant, and the amount included in the financial

statements for the current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.
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8. Directors’ Remuneration (Continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Liu Li Yuan 100 100

Liang Fang 100 100

Tam Kan Wing 100 100

300 300

There were no other emoluments payables to the independent non-executive directors during

the year (2006: Nil).

(b) Executive directors

Salaries,
allowances

and Employee Pension
benefits Discretionary share option scheme Total

Fees in kind bonuses benefits contributions remuneration
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2007

Luk King Tin 100 2,340 — — — 2,440
Cheng Cheung 100 1,690 — — — 1,790
Luk Yan 100 1,300 400 — 12 1,812
Luk Fung 100 715 — — 24 839
Fan Chiu Tat, Martin 100 1,092 — — 12 1,204

500 7,137 400 — 48 8,085

2006

Luk King Tin 100 2,025 — 470 — 2,595
Cheng Cheung 100 1,593 — 404 — 2,097
Luk Yan 100 1,040 160 404 12 1,716
Luk Fung 100 721 — 269 24 1,114
Fan Chiu Tat, Martin 100 945 — 404 12 1,461

500 6,324 160 1,951 48 8,983

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.
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9. Highest Paid Employees
The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2006: four) directors, details of whose

remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one (2006: one)

non-director, highest paid employee for the year is as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 897 920

Discretionary bonuses 400 491

Employee share option benefits — 135

1,297 1,546

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands:

Number of employees

2007 2006

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 —

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 — 1

1 1

In 2006, share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid employee in respect of his service

to the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures in note 35 to the financial statements.

The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in the income statement over the vesting

period was determined at the date of grant, and the amount included in the financial statements for the

current year is included in the above non-director, highest paid employee’s remuneration disclosures.
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10. Tax
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2006: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable

profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on the profits assessable elsewhere have been

calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates,

based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Group:

Current — elsewhere 9,276 11,152

Overprovision in prior years — elsewhere (17,347) –

Deferred (note 33) 64,289 51,734

Total tax charge for the year 56,218 62,886

In accordance with the relevant tax rules and regulations in Vietnam, certain of the Group’s subsidiaries

in Vietnam enjoy income tax exemptions and reductions. At present, the standard income tax rates

applicable to these subsidiaries are 15% and 25%.
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10. Tax (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before tax using the statutory rates for the

countries/jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the

tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax

rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

Group — 2007

Mainland

Hong Kong China Vietnam Total

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Profit/(loss) before tax (15,297) 9,130 362,287 356,120

Tax at the statutory tax rate (2,677) 17.5 3,013 33.0 90,572 25.0 90,908 25.5

Lower tax rates for

specific provinces

or local tax authority — — (2,169) (23.8) (18,938) (5.2) (21,107) (5.9)

Adjustments in respect

of current tax

of previous periods (17,347) 113 — — — — (17,347) (4.9)

Profits and losses

attributable to

jointly-controlled entities — — (695) (7.6) — — (695) (0.2)

Income not subject to tax (526) 3.4 — — (204) (0.1) (730) (0.2)

Expenses not

deductible for tax 2,462 (16.1) 623 6.8 199 0.1 3,284 1.0

Tax losses utilised (1,293) 8.5 — — — — (1,293) (0.4)

Tax losses not recognised 2,034 (13.3) 695 7.6 469 0.1 3,198 0.9

Tax charge at the

Group’s effective rate (17,347) 113 1,467 16 72,098 19.9 56,218 15.8
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10. Tax (Continued)

Group — 2006

Mainland
Hong Kong China Vietnam Total

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Profit/(loss) before tax (69,831) 34,399 296,569 261,137

Tax at the statutory tax rate (12,220) 17.5 11,352 33.0 74,142 25.0 73,274 28.1
Lower tax rates for

specific provinces
or local tax authority — — (7,920) (23.0) (29,890) (10.0) (37,810) (14.5)

Profits and losses
attributable to
jointly-controlled entities — — 357 1.0 390 0.1 747 0.3

Income not subject to tax (8,029) 11.5 — — (1,402) (0.5) (9,431) (3.6)
Expenses not

deductible for tax 16,488 (23.6) 4,537 13.2 11,342 3.8 32,367 12.4
Tax losses utilised — — — — (358) (0.1) (358) (0.1)
Tax losses not recognised 3,761 (5.4) — — 336 0.1 4,097 1.6

Tax charge at the
Group’s effective rate — — 8,326 24.2 54,560 18.4 62,886 24.2

11. Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year ended 31 December

2007 includes a loss of HK$6,427,000 (2006: loss of HK$13,458,000) which has been dealt with in the

financial statements of the Company (note 36(b)).

12. Dividends

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim — HK3 cents (2006: HK3 cents)

per ordinary share 17,199 14,879

Proposed final — HK5 cents (2006: HK5 cents)

per ordinary share 28,427 25,650

45,626 40,529

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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13. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent
The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based on the profit for the year attributable to

ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amounts is based on the profit for the year attributable to

ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the

calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per

share calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued

at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into

ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings

Profit attributable to ordinary equity

holders of the parent, used in the basic earnings

per share calculation 302,640 200,343

Number of shares

2007 2006

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue during the year used in the

basic earnings per share calculation 546,202,137 493,466,374

Effect of dilution — weighted average number

of ordinary shares:

Share options 3,941,214 7,657,104

550,143,351 501,123,478
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Group
Furniture,

Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold Plant and and office Computer Motor Construction

buildings improvements machinery equipment equipment Launch vehicles in progress Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2007

At 31 December 2006 and
at 1 January 2007:

Cost 73,595 1,653 366,898 14,113 881 2,251 12,818 191,759 663,968
Accumulated depreciation (28,804) (1,380) (148,772) (12,615) (609) (2,251) (9,373) — (203,804)

Net carrying amount 44,791 273 218,126 1,498 272 — 3,445 191,759 460,164

At 1 January 2007, net of
accumulated depreciation 44,791 273 218,126 1,498 272 — 3,445 191,759 460,164

Additions 11 350 9,511 642 85 — 897 243,719 255,215
Disposals — — (1,402) — — — — — (1,402)
Acquisition of

a subsidiary (note 37) 3,445 — — — — — — — 3,445
Depreciation provided

during the year (4,380) (204) (25,367) (547) (98) — (1,486) — (32,082)
Transfers — — 219,298 — — — — (219,298) —
Exchange realignment 140 — 2,911 4 1 — 9 147 3,212

At 31 December 2007, net of
accumulated depreciation 44,007 419 423,077 1,597 260 — 2,865 216,327 688,552

At 31 December 2007:
Cost 90,794 2,003 596,390 14,814 967 — 13,754 216,327 935,049
Accumulated depreciation (46,787) (1,584) (173,313) (13,217) (707) — (10,889) — (246,497)

Net carrying amount 44,007 419 423,077 1,597 260 — 2,865 216,327 688,552

31 December 2006

At 31 December 2005 and
at 1 January 2006:

Cost 73,429 2,060 368,666 14,246 894 2,251 13,353 89,751 564,650
Accumulated depreciation (28,076) (1,751) (134,901) (12,675) (529) (2,251) (9,084) — (189,267)

Net carrying amount 45,353 309 233,765 1,571 365 — 4,269 89,751 375,383

At 1 January 2006, net of
accumulated depreciation 45,353 309 233,765 1,571 365 — 4,269 89,751 375,383

Additions 487 154 838 284 9 — 1,378 104,787 107,937
Disposals — (3) — (5) (4) — (202) (2,188) (2,402)
Depreciation provided

during the year (800) (187) (15,210) (347) (98) — (1,984) — (18,626)
Exchange realignment (249) — (1,267) (5) — — (16) (591) (2,128)

At 31 December 2006, net of
accumulated depreciation 44,791 273 218,126 1,498 272 — 3,445 191,759 460,164

At 31 December 2006:
Cost 73,595 1,653 366,898 14,113 881 2,251 12,818 191,759 663,968
Accumulated depreciation (28,804) (1,380) (148,772) (12,615) (609) (2,251) (9,373) — (203,804)

Net carrying amount 44,791 273 218,126 1,498 272 — 3,445 191,759 460,164
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Company

Furniture,

fixtures

and office Computer Motor

equipment equipment vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2007

At 31 December 2006 and

at 1 January 2007:

Cost 82 202 435 719

Accumulated depreciation (50) (111) (281) (442)

Net carrying amount 32 91 154 277

At 1 January 2007, net of

accumulated depreciation 32 91 154 277

Additions 9 85 — 94

Depreciation provided

during the year (36) (23) (109) (168)

At 31 December 2007, net of

accumulated depreciation 5 153 45 203

At 31 December 2007:

Cost 91 287 435 813

Accumulated depreciation (86) (134) (390) (610)

Net carrying amount 5 153 45 203
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Company

Furniture,

fixtures

and office Computer Motor

equipment equipment vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2006

At 31 December 2005 and

at 1 January 2006:

Cost 63 195 435 693

Accumulated depreciation (17) (101) (172) (290)

Net carrying amount 46 94 263 403

At 1 January 2006, net of

accumulated depreciation 46 94 263 403

Additions 19 7 — 26

Depreciation provided

during the year (33) (10) (109) (152)

At 31 December 2006, net of

accumulated depreciation 32 91 154 277

At 31 December 2006:

Cost 82 202 435 719

Accumulated depreciation (50) (111) (281) (442)

Net carrying amount 32 91 154 277
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings included above are held, under the following lease terms:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

As cost:

Situated in Hong Kong:

Long-term leases 48,136 48,136

Situated elsewhere:

Short-term leases 42,658 25,459

90,794 73,595

The net book value of the Group’s fixed assets held under finance leases included in the total amount

of motor vehicles at 31 December 2007 amounted to HK$1,233,447 (2006: HK$455,083).

At 31 December 2007, certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings situated in Hong Kong and

Vietnam with an aggregate net book value of approximately HK$25,145,000 (2006: HK$36,474,000)

and plant and machinery with an aggregate net book value of approximately HK$181,181,000 (2006:

HK$192,256,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

15. Investment Properties
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 899,441 657,310

Net profit from a fair value adjustment 207,192 245,120

Exchange realignment 9,532 (2,989)

Carrying amount at 31 December 1,116,165 899,441



Annual Report 2007

Notes to financial statements
31 December 2007

69

15. Investment Properties (Continued)

The investment properties are held under the following lease terms:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Situated in Hong Kong:

Long term leases 14,426 12,840

Medium term leases 139,328 127,316

153,754 140,156

Situated elsewhere:

Long-term leases 89,779 81,729

Medium-term leases 824,675 639,442

Short-term leases 47,957 38,114

962,411 759,285

1,116,165 899,441

The investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2007 by independent professionally qualified

valuers, on an open market, existing use basis. The investment properties situated in Hong Kong and

Mainland China were revalued by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited and the investment properties

situated in Vietnam were revalued by CB Richard Ellis (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. The investment properties

are leased to third parties under operating leases, further summary details of which are included in

note 39(a) to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2007, certain of the Group’s investment properties situated in Hong Kong with a fair

value of approximately HK$120,000,000 (2006: HK$112,000,000) were pledged to secure general

banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on pages 108 to 109.



Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Co. Ltd.

Notes to financial statements
31 December 2007

70

16. Prepaid Land Lease Payments
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 24,186 26,607

Recognised during the year (note 6) (2,012) (2,113)

Exchange realignment (21) (308)

Carrying amount at 31 December 22,153 24,186

Current portion included in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables (2,009) (2,012)

Non-current portion 20,144 22,174

The leasehold land is held under a medium term lease and is situated in Vietnam.

17. Goodwill
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January:

Cost 262,558 262,558

Accumulated impairment (246,716) (169,000)

Net carrying amount 15,842 93,558

Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated impairment 15,842 93,558

Impairment during the year — (77,716)

Net carrying amount at 31 December 15,842 15,842
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17. Goodwill (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the following cash-generating

units, which are reportable segments, for impairment testing:

• Traditional Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit;

• Property investment cash-generating unit; and

• Cement products cash-generating unit.

Traditional Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit

No impairment loss was charged (2006: HK$78 million) to the income statement for the year ended 31

December 2007 for the traditional Chinese medicine products business because the carrying amount

of goodwill was fully impaired at the beginning of the financial year.

Property investment cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the property investment cash-generating unit was determined based on a

value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year

period approved by the directors. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 12%

(2006: 12%).

Cement products cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the cement products cash-generating unit was determined based on a

value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year

period approved by the directors. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 6%

(2006: 6%).

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating units is as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Property investment 15,659 15,659

Cement products 183 183

15,842 15,842



Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Co. Ltd.

Notes to financial statements
31 December 2007

72

17. Goodwill (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Cement products cash-generating unit (Continued)

A key assumptions was used in the value-in-use calculation of the cash-generating units of the traditional

Chinese medicine products, property investment and cement products as at 31 December 2007 and

2006. The following describes the key assumption on which management has based its cash flow

projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

The cash flow projections for the cash-generating units are based on the expected gross margins

during the budgeted period. Budgeted gross margins have been determined based on past performance

and management’s expectations for the market development. The discount rates used are before tax

and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

18. Interests in Subsidiaries
Company

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 785,890 785,890

Due from subsidiaries 119,820 412,469

Due to subsidiaries (594) (552,675)

905,116 645,684

Provision for amounts due from subsidiaries — (654)

905,116 645,030

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries are unsecured and interest-free, and have no fixed terms of

repayment. The carrying amounts of these amounts due from/to subsidiaries approximate to their fair

values.
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18. Interests in Subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued ordinary of equity
registration share capital/ attributable to Principal

Name and operations registered capital the Company activities

2007 2006

Luks Holdings (BVI) British Virgin US$2 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Islands/

Hong Kong

Luks Industrial Company Hong Kong HK$168,048,482 100 100 Property investment
Limited* and investment

holding

Luks Industrial (Bao An) PRC/ HK$39,000,000 100 100 Property investment
Company Limited*# Mainland China

Luks Vietnam Company British Virgin US$3 100 100 Investment holding
Limited* Islands/

Hong Kong

Luks Timber Investments Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*

Luks Timber (Vietnam) Vietnam VND15,715,698,000 100 100 Sale of plywood
Limited*

Luks Cement Company British Virgin US$50,000 100 100 Investment holding
Limited* Islands/

Hong Kong

Luks Cement (Vietnam) Vietnam VND329,356,867,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Limited* sale of cement

Luks Land Company British Virgin US$100 100 100 Investment holding
Limited* Islands/

Hong Kong

Luks Land (Vietnam) Vietnam VND193,639,051,000 100 100 Property investment
Limited* and management
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18. Interests in Subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued ordinary of equity
registration share capital/ attributable to Principal

Name and operationsm registered capital the Company activities
2007 2006

Prime Wise Investments Hong Kong/ HK$2 100 100 Property investment
Limited* Mainland China

Redmond Investments Hong Kong/ HK$2 100 100 Property investment
Limited* Mainland China

Vigconic (International) Hong Kong HK$400,000 75 75 Manufacture and
Limited* sale of traditional

Chinese medicine
products

Luks Land Development British Virgin US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited* Islands/

Hong Kong

Luks Land Investment British Virgin US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited* Islands/

Hong Kong

Sangor (Vietnam) Limited* British Virgin US$1 100 — Investment holding
Islands/
Hong Kong

Singer (Vietnam) Vietnam US$9,935,427 70 — Property investment
Company Limited*
(note a)

* Held through subsidiaries

# Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

note a:This subsidiary was accounted for as a jointly-controlled entity in the prior year (note 19).
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19. Interests in Jointly-controlled Entities
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets 24,595 24,478

Due to a jointly-controlled entity (21,654) (21,654)

2,941 2,824

The amount due to a jointly-controlled entity is unsecured and interest-free, and has no fixed terms of

repayment. The carrying amount of the amount due to the jointly-controlled entity approximates to its

fair value.

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entities are as follows:

Percentage of

Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal

Name registration interest power sharing activity

Chengdu Leming House PRC 75 57 75 Property

Development development

Company Limited*

* Held through a 68% owned subsidiary of the Company.

During the year, Singer (Vietnam) Company Limited became a 70% interest owned subsidiary of the

Group after the Group’s taking control over half of its voting power (notes 18 and 37).
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19. Interests in Jointly-controlled Entities (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s jointly-controlled

entities:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of the jointly-controlled entities’ assets and liabilities:

Current assets 11,390 34,739

Non-current assets 30,120 4,461

Current liabilities (15,822) (13,661)

Non-current liabilities (1,093) (1,061)

Net assets 24,595 24,478

Share of jointly-controlled entities’ results:

Revenue 1,562 1,084

Other income 417 2,673

1,979 3,757

Total expenses (4,076) (6,399)

Tax (10) —

Loss after tax (2,107) (2,642)

20. Interests in Associates
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets — —

Loans to associates 27,946 27,943

27,946 27,943

Provision for impairment (27,946) (27,943)

— —

The loans to the associates are unsecured and interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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20. Interests in Associates (Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of loans to associates are as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 27,943 27,940

Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 3 3

At 31 December 27,946 27,943

The loans to associates are expected to be default due to the financial difficulties of the associates.

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

Percentage

Particulars of of equity

issued shares Place of attributable to Principal

Name held incorporation the Group activity

2007 2006

Luks Electronic Company Ordinary shares Hong Kong 40 40 Investment holding

Limited of HK$100 each

The principal associate is indirectly held through a subsidiary.

The above table lists the associate of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally

affected the results for the year. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

The Group had discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of Luks Electronic Company Limited

because the Group’s share of loss of this associate exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate.

The Group’s unrecognised share of loss of this associate for the current year and cumulatively was

approximately HK$3,000 (2006: HK$3,000) and HK$11,271,000 (2006: HK$11,268,000), respectively.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s associates extracted

from their management accounts:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets 14 15

Liabilities 28,077 28,075

Loss after tax 3 3
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21. Available-for-sale Investments
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity investments, at fair value:

Overseas 458 657

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities which were designated as available-

for-sale financial assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale equity investments have been estimated using a valuation

technique based on assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The

directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded

in the consolidated balance sheet, and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in the

consolidated income statement, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at the

balance sheet date.

During the year, the impairment amounting to HK$199,000 (2006: HK$473,000) was recognised in the

income statement.

22. Time Deposit
The time deposit was denominated in United States dollars (“US$”) with original maturity of two years

when acquired. The carrying amount of the time deposit approximated to its fair value.

23. Inventories
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 6,306 13,557

Work in progress 3,428 1,775

Finished goods 4,183 4,164

13,917 19,496
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24. Trade Receivables
Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 30,292 25,953

Impairment (132) (1,074)

30,160 24,879

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where

payment in advance is normally required. The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days for its

trade debtors. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.

Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and

the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no

significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, and

net of impairment is as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 — 30 days 21,006 15,000

31 — 60 days 1,954 3,487

61 — 90 days 1,270 1,486

91 — 120 days 2,108 370

Over 120 days 3,822 4,536

30,160 24,879
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24. Trade Receivables (Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 1,074 911

Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 211 163

Amounts written off as uncollectible (1,153) —

132 1,074

The above provision for impairment of trade receivables represent provision for individually impaired

trade receivables, which relates to customers that were in default. The Group does not hold any collateral

or other credit enhancement over these balances.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 20,529 17,211

Less than 3 months past due 5,808 3,133

Over 3 months past due 3,823 4,535

30,160 24,879

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers

for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that

have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are

of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has

not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

As at 31 December 2006, the trade receivables of HK$418,000 were pledged to secure general banking

facilities granted to the Group.
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25. Debt Investments at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed debt investments,

at market value:

Overseas 1,094 1,094 1,094 1,094

The above debt investments at 31 December 2007 and 2006 classified as held for trading.

26. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Pledged Deposits
Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and bank balances 320,606 37,420 54,804 3,868

Time deposits 531,502 73,611 531,290 73,611

852,108 111,031 586,094 77,479

Less: Pledged time deposits for trade

finance facilities (8,109) (20,869) (8,109) (20,869)

Cash and cash equivalents 843,999 90,162 577,985 56,610

At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)

and Vietnamese Dong (“VND”) amounted to approximately HK$805,000 (2006: HK$2,332,000) and

HK$54,369,000 (2006: HK$17,275,000), respectively. The RMB and VND are not freely convertible

into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and

Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations and the Law on

Foreign Investment in Vietnam, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB and VND for other currencies

through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time

deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate

cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The

bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of

default. The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents and the pledged deposits approximate

to their fair values.
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27. Trade Payables
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the balance sheet date, based on the invoice due date, is

as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 — 30 days 15,097 11,395

31 — 60 days 499 324

61 — 90 days 64 294

91 — 120 days 293 21

Over 120 days 8,283 7,877

24,236 19,911

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 30 to 90 days.

28. Due to Directors
The amounts due to directors are unsecured and interest-free, and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The carrying amounts of the amounts due to directors approximate to their fair values.

29. Due to a Related Company
The amount due to a related company is unsecured and interest-free, and is repayable on demand.

The carrying amount of the amount due to a related company approximates to its fair value.
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30. Interest-bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
Effective Group

interest 2007 2006

rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 HK$’000

Current

Finance lease payables (note 31) 2008 452 221

Bank loans — secured 4.80-11.62 2008 121,571 77,198

122,023 77,419

Non-current

Finance lease payable (note 31) 2009-2010 341 275

Bank loans — secured 4.80-11.62 2009-2012 181,084 38,144

181,425 38,419

303,448 115,838

Analysed into:

Bank loans repayable:

Within one year 121,571 77,198

In the second year 30,373 21,892

In the third to fifth years, inclusive 150,711 16,252

302,655 115,342

Other borrowings repayable:

Within one year 452 221

In the second year 285 239

In the third to fifth years, inclusive 56 36

793 496

303,448 115,838
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30. Interest-bearing Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

Effective Company

interest 2007 2006

rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 HK$’000

Current

Bank loans - secured HIBOR +0.8 2008 8,400 —

Non-current

Bank loans - secured HIBOR +0.8 2009-2012 30,267 —

38,667 —

Analysed into:

Bank loans repayable:

Within one year 8,400 —

In the second year 8,400 —

In the third to fifth years, inclusive 21,867 —

38,667 —

Notes:

(a) At the balance sheet date, the following assets were pledged to secure the above bank loans and general

banking facilities granted to the Group:

(i) certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings situated in Hong Kong and Vietnam with an

aggregate net book value of approximately HK$25,145,000 (2006: HK$36,474,000);

(ii) certain of the Group’s investment properties situated in Hong Kong with an aggregate carrying

value of approximately HK$120,000,000 (2006: HK$112,000,000); and

(iii) the Group’s plant and machinery with an aggregate net book value of approximately HK$181,181,000

(2006: HK$192,256,000).

(b) The secured bank loans are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Vietnamese Dong and United States

dollars.
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30. Interest-bearing Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

Notes: (continued)

Group
(c) Other interest rate information:

2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fixed rate:
Finance lease payables 793 496
Bank loans - secured 106,028 92,281

106,821 92,777
Floating rate:

Bank loans - secured 196,627 23,061

303,448 115,838

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings approximate to their fair values.

31. Finance Lease Payables
The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles. The lease is classified as a finance lease and have
remaining lease terms from two to three years.

At 31 December 2007, the total future minimum lease payments under the finance lease and their
present values were as follows:

Group
Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments

2007 2006 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable:
Within one year 493 250 452 221
In the second year 285 249 285 239
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 57 39 56 36

Total minimum finance
lease payments 835 538 793 496

Future finance charges (42) (42)

Total net finance lease payables 793 496

Portion classified as current
liabilities (note 30) (452) (221)

Non-current portion (note 30) 341 275
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32. Provisions

Group

Long service Environmental

payments restoration Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2007 3,768 765 4,533

Additional provision 138 — 138

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 37) 356 — 356

Exchange realignment — 17 17

At 31 December 2007 4,262 782 5,044

The Group provides for probable future long service payments expected to be made to employees

under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The provision for environmental restoration costs has been determined by the directors based on the

best estimate of the expected costs. However, in-so-far as the effect on the land and the environment

from current limestone excavation activities becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the

associated costs may be subject to change.
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33. Deferred Tax
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

Group — 2007

Depreciation

allowance in

excess of related Revaluation

depreciation of properties Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2007 231 97,024 97,255

Deferred tax charged to the income

statement during the year (note 10) 14,146 50,190 64,336

Gross deferred tax liabilities

At 31 December 2007 14,377 147,214 161,591

Group — 2006

Depreciation

allowance in

excess of related Revaluation

depreciation of properties Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006 231 45,290 45,521

Deferred tax charged to the income

statement during the year (note 10) — 51,734 51,734

Gross deferred tax liabilities

at 31 December 2006 231 97,024 97,255
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33. Deferred Tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Losses available

for offset against

future taxable profit

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of year — —

Deferred tax credited to the income statement

during the year (note 10) 47 —

Gross deferred tax assets at end of year 47 —

For the purpose of balance sheet presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been

offset. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting

purposes:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the

consolidated balance sheet 47 —

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the

consolidated balance sheet (161,591) (97,255)

(161,544) (97,255)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$530,406,000 (2006:

HK$517,518,000) that are available indefinitely and in Vietnam of approximately HK$3,014,000 (2006:

HK$2,235,000) that are available for a maximum of five years for offsetting against future taxable

profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in

respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time.

and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can

be utilised.

At 31 December 2007, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax liability (2006: Nil) for taxes

that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries, associates or

jointly-controlled entities, as the Group has no liability to additional tax should such amounts be remitted.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its

shareholders.
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34. Share Capital

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

760,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 7,600 7,600

Issued and fully paid:

573,485,418 (2006: 499,935,418) ordinary shares

of HK$0.01 each (2006: HK$0.01) each 5,735 4,999

A summary of the transactions in the Company’s issued share capital is as follows:

Number Share

of shares Issued premium

in issue capital account Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006 490,705,418 4,907 198,801 203,708

Share options exercised 9,230,000 92 12,318 12,410

At 31 December 2006 and 499,935,418 4,999 211,119 216,118

1 January 2007

Share options exercised (a) 13,550,000 136 18,780 18,916

Allotment (b) 60,000,000 600 743,833 744,433

573,485,418 5,735 973,732 979,467

(a) During the year, the subscription rights attaching to 13,270,000 and 280,000 share options were exercised

at the subscription price of HK$1.21 and HK$3.18 per share respectively (note 35), resulting in the issue of

13,550,000 shares of HK$0.01 each for a total cash consideration of HK$16,947,100.

(b) 60,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each were issued for cash at a subscription price of HK$12.8 per share for

a total cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$768,000,000 to provide further working capital.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are

included in note 35 to the financial statements.
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35. Share Option Scheme
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives

and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible

participants of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, and other employees of the Group. The

Scheme became effective on 18 May 2006 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in

force for five years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme

is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 30% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme

within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any

further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general

meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to

any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors.

In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive

director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company

in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the

date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, upon

payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share

options granted is determinable by the directors commences after a certain vesting period and ends

on a date which is not later than five years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date

of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the

highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the

share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five

trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; or (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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35. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the year.

Price of the Company’s shares ***

Immediately At
Exercise At grant before the exercise

Name or At 1 Granted Exercised Expired Forfeited At 31 Date of Exercise price of date of exercise date of
category of January during during during during December grant of period of share options** option date options
participant 2007 the year the year the year the year 2007 share options* share options HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Directors
Luk King Tin 3,500,000 — (3,500,000 ) — — — 23-5-2006 30-5-2006 to 18-5-2011 1.21 1.19 4.35 4.39

Cheng Cheung 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000 23-5-2006 30-5-2006 to 18-5-2011 1.21 1.19 — —

Luk Yan 3,000,000 — (3,000,000 ) — — — 23-5-2006 30-5-2006 to 18-5-2011 1.21 1.19 3.76 3.81

Luk Fung 2,000,000 — (2,000,000 ) — — — 23-5-2006 30-5-2006 to 18-5-2011 1.21 1.19 3.76 3.81

Fan Chiu Tat,
Martin 2,000,000 — (2,000,000 ) — — — 23-5-2006 30-5-2006 to 18-5-2011 1.21 1.19 3.76 3.81

11,500,000 — (10,500,000 ) — — 1,000,000

Employees
In aggregate 3,770,000 — (2,770,000 ) — — 1,000,000 23-5-2006 30-5-2006 to 18-5-2011 1.21 1.19 3.76-12.52 3.81-12.60

950,000 — (280,000 ) — — 670,000 25-10-2006 25-10-2006 to 18-5-2011 3.18 3.18 8.85-9.70 8.86-9.75

— 2,350,000 — — — 2,350,000 1-2-2007 1-2-2008 to 18-5-2011 5.04 5.04 — —

— 1,650,000 — — — 1,650,000 25-9-2007 25-9-2008 to 18-5-2011 10.06 10.06 — —

4,720,000 4,000,000 (3,050,000 ) — — 5,670,000

16,220,000 4,000,000 (13,550,000 ) — — 6,670,000

Notes to the share options outstanding during the year:

* The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise

period and subject to the exercise conditions of after certain years of employment ranging from one to

three years.

** The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or

other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

*** The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the exercise dates of

share share options was HK$6.12.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was HK$9,836,000 (2006: HK$3,953,000).

During the year, the Group recognised a share option expense of HK$3,904,000 (2006: HK$3,380,000)

which included HK$573,000 recognised from the share options granted in 2006.
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35. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year was estimated as at the date of

grant, using the Black-Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the

options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

2007 2006

Dividend yield (%) 0.80 — 1.59 2.04 — 6.98

Expected volatility (%) 35.55 — 58.65 33.72 — 55.05

Risk-free interest rate (%) 3.90 — 4.06 3.80 — 4.64

Expected life of option (year) 2.69 — 2.90 0.80 — 2.00

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over the past three years and is not

necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the

assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be

the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

The 13,550,000 (2006: 9,230,000) share options exercised during the year resulted in the issue of

13,550,000 (2006: 9,230,000) ordinary shares of the Company and new share capital of HK$135,500

(2006: HK$92,300) and share premium of HK$18,780,000 (2006: HK$12,318,000), as further detailed

in note 34 to the financial statements.

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 6,670,000 (2006: 16,220,000) share options outstanding

under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining share options would, under the present capital

structure of the Company, result in the issue of 6,670,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company

and additional share capital of HK$66,700 and share premium of HK$32,926,900 (before issue

expenses).
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36. Reserves

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years

are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 26 to 27 of the

financial statements.

The contributed surplus of the Group derives from the difference between the nominal value of

the Company’s shares issued to acquire the issued share capital of Luks Industrial Company

Limited pursuant to the Group reorganisation, and the consolidated net asset value of Luks

Industrial Company Limited so acquired. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the

contributed surplus is distributable to shareholders under certain prescribed circumstances.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign joint venture enterprises, a portion

of the profits of the Group’s associates and jointly-controlled entities which are established in

the PRC has been transferred to reserve funds which may only be utilised by the Group in

accordance with the relevant legislation.

(b) Company

Share Share Proposed
premium Contributed option Accumulated final
account surplus reserve losses dividend Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2006 198,801 552,559 — (5,345) 24,535 770,550
Equity-settled share

option arrangements 35 — — 3,380 — — 3,380
Issue of shares 12,318 — (1,242) — — 11,076
Loss for the year — — — (13,458) — (13,458)
Final 2005 dividend

declared — — — — (24,535) (24,535)
Interim 2006 dividend 12 — (14,879) — — — (14,879)
Proposed final 2006

dividend 12 — (25,650) — — 25,650 —

At 31 December 2006 211,119 512,030 2,138 (18,803) 25,650 732,134

Equity-settled share
option arrangements 35 — — 3,904 — — 3,904

Issue of shares 762,613 — (1,969) — — 760,644
Loss for the year — — — (6,427) — (6,427)
Final 2006 dividend

declared — — — — (25,650) (25,650)
Interim 2007 dividend 12 — (17,199) — — — (17,199)
Proposed final 2007

dividend 12 — (28,427) — — 28,427 —

At 31 December 2007 973,732 466,404 4,073 (25,230) 28,427 1,447,406
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36. Reserves (Continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of the fair value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired by the Company over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefor. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, a company may make distributions to
its members out of the contributed surplus in certain circumstances.

37. BUSINESS COMBINATION

Year ended 31 December 2007

The Group took control over half of the voting power in Singer (Vietnam) Company Limited (“Singer
Vietnam”) on 30 April 2007 (date of deemed acquisition). The Group previously accounted for Singer
Vietnam as a jointly-controlled entity. Singer Vietnam is engaged in property investment. The total
consideration of US$200,000 was satisfied by cash.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Singer Vietnam as at the date of deemed
acquisition and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the deemed acquisition were
as follows:

Fair value Previous
recognised carrying

on acquisition amount
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Leasehold land and buildings 14 3,445 25,568
Cash and cash equivalents 139 139
Trade receivables 115 268
Inventories 1 75
Trade payables (27) (27)
Other payables and accruals (768) (768)
Tax payable (16) (16)
Provision 32 (356) (49,663)

2,533 (24,424)

Minority interests (760)
Excess over the cost of acquisition* 5 (213)

Total consideration 1,560

Satisfied by:
Cash 1,560

* The above excess over the cost of acquisition of a subsidiary was primarily due to a discount affected by

the vendor over the purchase consideration.
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition of subsidiary

is as follows:

HK$’000

Cash consideration ( 1,560)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 139

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary ( 1,421)

Since its acquisition, Singer Vietnam contributed HK$1,123,605 to the Group’s consolidated turnover

and a loss of HK$1,876,829 to the consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the Group’s consolidated turnover and

loss for the year ended 31 December 2007 would have been HK$2,786,565 and HK$2,397,235,

respectively.

38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Major non-cash transactions

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group entered into a finance lease arrangement in respect

of property, plant and equipment with capital value at the inception of the lease of HK$700,000 (2006:

HK$508,000).

39. Operating Lease Arrangements

(a) As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) under operating lease arrangements, with

leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years. The terms of the leases generally

also require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments

according to the then prevailing market conditions.
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39. Operating Lease Arrangements (Continued)

(a) As lessor (Continued)

At 31 December 2007, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-

cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 89,446 69,300

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 41,452 41,056

130,898 110,356

(b) As lessee

The Group leases certain of its land and office properties under operating lease arrangements.

Leases for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 36 years.

At 31 December 2007, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases falling due as follows:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 752 789

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 1,918 2,204

After five years 22,136 24,345

24,806 27,338

40. Commitments
In addition to the operating lease arrangements detailed in note 39(b) above, the Group had the following

capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment at the balance sheet date:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted, but not provided for 308,655 36,017
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40. Commitments (Continued)

The Group had the following share of commitment on capital contribution to proposed jointly-controlled

entities at the balance sheet date:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised, but not contracted for 163,815 15,600

At the balance sheet date, the Company did not have any significant commitments.

41. Related Party Transactions
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 8,444 9,495

Post-employment benefits 36 60

Share-based payments — 2,086

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 8,480 11,641

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

42. Contingent Liabilities
At the balance sheet date, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as

follows:

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Guarantees given to banks in

connection with facilities

granted to subsidiaries — — 30,000 30,000

The Company has executed guarantees totalling HK$30,000,000 (2006: HK$30,000,000) with respect

to banking facilities made available to its subsidiaries, of which HK$14,500,000 (2006: HK$20,500,000)

were utilised as at 31 December 2007.
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43. Financial Instruments by Category
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance sheet date

are as follows:

2007

Financial assets

Group

Financial

assets at fair

value through Available-

profit or loss for-sale

— held for Loans and financial

trading receivables assets Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale investments — — 458 458

Trade receivables — 30,160 — 30,160

Financial assets included in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables — 24,994 — 24,994

Debt investments at fair value

through profit or loss 1,094 — — 1,094

Pledged deposits — 8,109 — 8,109

Cash and cash equivalents — 843,999 — 843,999

1,094 907,262 458 908,814

Financial liabilities

Group

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

HK$’000

Interests in jointly-controlled entities (note 19) 21,654

Trade payables 24,236

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 40,642

Due to directors 92

Due to a related company 5,061

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 303,448

Rental deposits 31,184

426,317
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43. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

2006

Financial assets

Group

Financial

assets at fair

value through Availabl-

profit or loss for-sale

— held for Loans and financial

trading receivables assets Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale investments — — 657 657

Trade receivables — 24,879 — 24,879

Financial assets included in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables — 16,018 — 16,018

Debt investments at fair value

through profit or loss 1,094 — — 1,094

Time deposits — 15,600 — 15,600

Pledged deposits — 20,869 — 20,869

Cash and cash equivalents — 90,162 — 90,162

1,094 167,528 657 169,279

Financial liabilities

Group

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

HK$’000

Interests in jointly-controlled entities (note 19) 21,654

Trade payables 19,911

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 62,751

Due to directors 901

Due to a related company 4,334

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 115,838

Rental deposits 25,416

250,805
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43. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

Financial assets

Company

2007 2006

Financial Financial

assets assets

at fair value at fair value

through profit through profit

or loss — held Loans and or loss — held Loans and

for trading receivables Total for trading receivables Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interests in subsidiaries (note 18) — 119,820 119,820 — 411,815 411,815

Financial assets included

in prepayments, deposits

and other receivables — 1,013 1,013 — — —

Debt investments at fair value

through profit or loss 1,094 — 1,094 1,094 — 1,094

Pledged deposits — 8,109 8,109 — 20,869 20,869

Cash and cash equivalents — 577,985 577,985 — 56,610 56,610

1,094 706,927 708,021 1,094 489,294 490,388

Financial liabilities

Company

2007 2006

Financial Financial

liabilities at liabilities at

amortised cost amortised cost

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interests in subsidiaries (note 18) 594 552,675

Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals 1,620 1,446

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 38,667 —

Due to directors 92 901

40,973 555,022
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, cash and short-term deposits. The

main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group

has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which

arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been, throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial

instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency

risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these

risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s

debt obligations. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its debt obligations.

However, management monitors the related cash flow interest rate risk exposure closely and will consider

hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with

all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate

borrowings).
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)

(decrease) in in profit

basis point before tax

HK$’000

2007

Hong Kong dollar 100 (532)

Vietnamese Dong 100 (273)

United States dollar 100 (1,162)

Hong Kong dollar (100) 532

Vietnamese Dong (100) 273

United States dollar (100) 1,162

2006

Hong Kong dollar 100 (231)

Hong Kong dollar (100) 231

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in exchange rates for its investments in Vietnam. Since

VND is a restricted currency and thus hedging instruments are in lack of. In order to minimise the

Group’s exposure to the foreign currency risk, the Group makes use of its surplus cash flows derived

from cement plant and borrowings of VND from local banks to repay loans denominated in US$, and in

particular, the loan due to the parent company. In addition, most of the expenditures of the cement

plant are in VND. For the investment properties situated in Vietnam, over 90% of the leasing contracts

are denominated in US$, whereas most of its expenditures are in VND. Management monitors the

related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency risk

should the need arise.
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the balance sheet date to a reasonably possible

change in the Vietnamese Dong exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s

profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease)

Vietnamese Dong in profit

rate before tax

% HK$’000

2007

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against Vietnamese Dong 1 1,822

If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against Vietnamese Dong (1) (1,822)

2006

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against Vietnamese Dong 1 1,353

If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against Vietnamese Dong (1) (1,353)

Credit risk

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit

verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the

Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and

available-for-sale financial assets, debt investments at fair value through profit or loss and other

receivables arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying

amount of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables

are disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the

use of bank loans. In addition, banking facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes.

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool

considers the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables)

and projected cash flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date, based on the

contracted undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Group

2007

Less than Less than 2 to 5 Over

On demand 12 months 2 years years 5 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables — 24,236 — — — 24,236

Financial liabilities included in

other payables and accruals — 40,642 — — — 40,642

Due to directors 92 — — — — 92

Due to a jointly-controlled entity 21,654 — — — — 21,654

Due to a related company 5,061 — — — — 5,061

Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings — 137,517 42,848 174,113 — 354,478

Rental deposits — — — 31,184 — 31,184

26,807 202,395 42,848 205,297 — 477,347
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Group

2006

Less than Less than 2 to 5 Over

On demand 12 months 2 years years 5 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables — 19,911 — — — 19,911

Financial liabilities included in

other payables and accruals — 62,751 — — — 62,751

Due to directors 901 — — — — 901

Due to a jointly-controlled entity 21,654 — — — — 21,654

Due to a related company 4,334 — — — — 4,334

Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings — 83,724 24,393 16,798 — 124,915

Rental deposits — — — 25,416 — 25,416

26,889 166,386 24,393 42,214 — 259,882

Company

2007

Less than Less than 2 to 5 Over

On demand 12 months 2 years years 5 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Due to subsidiaries (note 18) 594 — — — — 594

Financial liabilities included in

other payables and accruals — 1,620 — — — 1,620

Due to directors 92 — — — — 92

Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings — 5,142 36,393 — — 41,535

686 6,762 36,393 — — 43,841



Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Co. Ltd.

Notes to financial statements
31 December 2007

106

44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Company

2006

Less than Less than 2 to 5 Over

On demand 12 months 2 years years 5 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Due to subsidiaries (note 18) 552,675 — — — — 552,675

Financial liabilities included in

other payables and accruals — 1,446 — — — 1,446

Due to directors 901 — — — — 901

553,576 1,446 — — — 555,022

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue

as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise

shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in the light of changes in economic

conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,

the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue

new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31

December 2007 and 2006.
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44. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is long-term interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings divided by the equity attributable to equity holders of the parent. The Group’s policy is to

maintain the gearing ratio between 5% and 10%. The gearing ratios as at the balance sheet dates

were as follows:

Group

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

Long-term interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 181,425 38,419

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 2,259,785 1,220,807

Gearing ratio 8% 3%

45. Post Balance Sheet Events
(i) From 16 January 2008 to 10 March 2008, the Company repurchased 5,188,000 of its own shares

on the Stock Exchange for a total consideration of HK$38,871,180.

(ii) After the balance sheet date the directors proposed a final dividend, further details of which are

disclosed in note 12.

46. Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 14 April

2008.
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Attributable

interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group

Store Rooms 4, 5 and 6 on Upper Basement Floor, Industrial building Medium- 100%

Fu Hang Industrial Building, No. 1 Hok Yuen Street, for rental term leases

Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

G/F. to 13/F., Luks Industrial Building, Industrial building Medium- 100%

Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 145, for rental term leases

No. 6 Tsun Wen Road, Tuen Mun,

New Territories, Hong Kong

Flat A2, 3/F., Flat B, 4/F., Industrial building Long-term 100%

Flat C, 7/F. and Flats A1 & A2, 9/F., for rental leases

Cheong Wah Factory Building,

No. 39 — 41 Sheung Heung Road and

No. 60 Cheung Ning Street, Tokwawan,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Workshops E2 & F2, 7/F., Hang Fung Industrial Industrial building Medium- 100%

Building, Phase II, No. 2G Hok Yuen Street East, for rental term leases

Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

The whole block of Luks Industrial Building Industrial and Short- 100%

and Dormitory, Xinan 3rd Road, Xinanban residential building term leases

Zone No. 28, Bao An Area, for rental

Shenzhen, PRC
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Attributable

interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group

1st and 2nd Floors of the Dormitory, Residential building Short- 100%

2nd of 05A, for rental term leases

Area 33, Bao An Area,

Shenzhen, PRC

Saigon Trade Centre, Commercial building Medium- 100%

No. 37 Ton Duc Thang Street, for rental term leases

District 1, Ho Chi Minh City,

Vietnam

Flats 101, 104-106, 204-206, Residential building Long- 100%

304-306, 403-406, 503-506, for rental term leases

604-606, 704-706 and 803-806,

Block 3, Mandarin City,

Gubei, Shanghai, PRC
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last five

financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements and restated as appropriate, is

set out below.

Year ended 31 December

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 299,902 198,251 25,636 42,865 31,776

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 302,640 200,343 22,413 30,632 20,183

Minority interests (2,738) (2,092) 3,223 12,233 11,593

299,902 198,251 25,636 42,865 31,776

Assets, Liabilities and Minority Interests

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

TOTAL ASSETS 2,877,837 1,594,045 1,350,852 1,349,859 1,361,357

TOTAL LIABILITIES (622,122) (375,330) (304,739) (241,182) (479,452)

MINORITY INTERESTS 4,070 2,092 — (43,376) (27,421)

2,259,785 1,220,807 1,046,113 1,065,301 854,484


